FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 5 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By [Signature]  
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLANT,

vs.

DUANE OWEN,

APPELLEE.

CASE NO. 85,781

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENCE  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0656879

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS  
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.  
SUITE 300  
WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299  
(407) 688-7759

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

State of Florida, was the petitioner in the trial court and will be referred to herein as "petitioner" or "the state". Duane Owen was the respondent in the trial court and will be referred to herein as "Owen" or "the respondent."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Duane Owen was initially convicted and sentenced to death in 1987 for rape and strangulation of Karen Slattery. Owen claimed that his confession should have been suppressed because it was the result of improper psychological coercion and it was obtained in violation of the procedural rules of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S., 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207, 210 (Fla.1990). This Court expressly rejected Owen's argument that his confession was the result of psychological coercion. To the contrary, this Court found respondent's confession to be voluntary. Owen, 560 So. 2d at 210. However, this Court determined that respondent's confession should have been suppressed because of a technical violation of Miranda. Specifically this Court held that Owen's equivocal responses during interrogation, precluded any further questioning by the police. At most the police were only permitted to ask questions in an attempt to clarify Owen's ambiguous responses. This holding was predicated on an interpretation of both Miranda and Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981).

While on remand, the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in United States v. Davis, 512 U.S. \_\_\_, 1129 L. Ed. 2d , 114 S.Ct. \_\_\_ (1994). The Court determined that equivocal responses by a defendant do not invoke the rule of Miranda and Edwards. Unless a defendant makes an unequivocal request for counsel, questioning may continue. Based on Davis the state moved the trial court to reinstate the confession. That request



was denied. The state then sought certiorari review in the Fourth District Court of Appeals.<sup>1</sup> Although the district court denied the state's petition, it certified the following question:

DO THE PRINCIPLES ANNOUNCED BY THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT IN DAVIS APPLY TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF TRAYLOR?

---

<sup>1</sup> The state also sought certiorari review in this Court. This Court denied review. State v. Owen, Case No. 84,589.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. United States v. Davis, 512 U.S. \_\_, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362, 114 S.Ct. \_\_ (1994), should be applied in the instant case and in Florida generally. This Court's original opinion was predicated solely on an interpretation of a federal rule. Reversal was not predicated upon a violation of either the state or federal constitutions. Davis illustrates that this Court's interpretation of that federal rule was erroneous. Consequently this Court should apply United States Supreme Court's interpretation/limitation of its own rules.

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE

DO THE PRINCIPLES ANNOUNCED IN DAVIS APPLY TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF CONFESSIONS IN FLORIDA, IN LIGHT OF TRAYLOR; THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER THE CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE.

On direct appeal to this Court from his original conviction and sentence, Owen argued that his confession was inadmissible because it was (1) the result of psychological coercion and (2) it violated the technical requirements of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207, 210 (Fla. 1990). This Court flatly rejected his first argument, finding that the confession was voluntarily made. Owen, 560 So. 2d at 210. On the second point, this Court agreed, finding a technical violation of Miranda. Id., at 211. Since this Court could not conclude that suppression of his confession was harmless error, Owen's conviction was vacated. Id.

During the pendency of respondent's retrial, the United Supreme Court issued its opinion in United States v. Davis, 512 U.S. \_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L. Ed. 2d 362 (1994). In Davis, the Court determined that an equivocal request for an attorney in reference to Miranda warnings does not require the cessation of an interrogation. Ambiguous statements from a defendant do not require the police to limit all further questioning to an inquiry regarding the meaning of the equivocal response. The Court refused to expand the rule of Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981).

On July 25, 1994, in light of Davis, the state filed a motion in the trial court to admit Owen's statement at the retrial. Relief was denied on September 27, 1994. The state sought certiorari review in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The district court determined:

If we were certain that Davis was the law in Florida, and if this specific confession had not already been held inadmissible by the Florida Supreme Court, we would grant certiorari, because the pretrial refusal to admit this confession would be a departure from the essential requirements of the law for which the state would have no adequate remedy by review. State v. Pettis, 520 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1988).

Owen State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D963 (Fla. 4th DCA April 19, 1995).

Given the district's court's uncertainty regarding the application of Davis in Florida in light of Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d (Fla. 1992), the court certified the following question:

Do the principles announced in Davis apply to the admissibility of confessions in Florida, in light of Traylor?

Owen, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D964. For the following reasons the state submits that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

A. Whether or not United States v. Davis should apply in Florida does not involve a consideration of Traylor v. State.

Before the district court, Owen relied on Haliburton v. State, 514 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 1987) (hereinafter Haliburton II), and Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992), to support his contention that Davis should not be applied in his case or in

Florida law in general. In Haliburton v. State, 476 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1985), (hereinafter Haliburton I), this Court ruled that the confession was involuntary as it was not the result of a knowing and intelligent waiver. On remand from the United States Supreme Court, this Court again found the confession to be involuntary, based on state law. Haliburton II.<sup>2</sup> In Traylor, after analyzing the voluntariness of Traylor's confession, this Court affirmed its admissibility. There is a fundamental distinction between Owen's case and Haliburton/ Traylor. In Haliburton II and Traylor, this Court analyzed the voluntariness of the confession under the state constitution. In Owen, on the other hand, this Court found Owen's confession voluntary but found the confession inadmissible because of a technical violation of Miranda:

It is clear that from these tapes that the sessions were initiated by Owen, who was repeatedly advised of his rights to counsel and to remain silent. Moreover, he acknowledged on the tapes that he was completely familiar with his Miranda rights and knew them as well as the police officers. It is also clear that the sessions, which encompassed six days, were not individually lengthy and that Owen was given refreshments, food, and breaks during the sessions. The tapes show that the confession was entirely voluntary under the fifth amendment and that no improper coercion was employed.

---

<sup>2</sup> This Court was clearly troubled by the officer's initial refusal to obey then Judge Barkett's telephone order. Both Haliburton I & II cite to Jamason v. State, 455 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1984)(willful refusal by police to obey telephonic court order constitutes criminal contempt).

Owen next argues that even if the confession was voluntary under the fifth amendment, it was nevertheless obtained in violation of the procedural rules of Miranda. On this point, we agree.

Owen, 560 So. 2d at 210. (emphasis added; citations omitted).

Miranda of course established a federal procedural rule based on federal law. Miranda warnings themselves are not constitutionally mandated but are prophylactic measures to ensure against compulsory incrimination. Thus a violation of Miranda is not a constitutional violation. Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304, 306 (Fla. 1990) (citing Duckworth v. Eagan, 492 U.S.195, 109 S.Ct.2875, 106 L. Ed. 2d 166 (1989), and Michigan v. Tucker, 417 U.S. 433, 444, 94 S.Ct. 2357,41 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1974) (Miranda warnings designed to deter police coercion and are not protected by the Constitution). Consequently, any analysis of the admissibility of Owen's confession should not entail a discussion of either state or federal constitutional law. Since Traylor and Haliburton II concern only the violation of a constitutional right against self incrimination, neither of those cases should be included in any analysis regarding the continuing validity of this Court's holding in Owen, in light of Davis.

This Court has recognized and applied that same distinction. In Haliburton I the state relied upon State v. Craig, 237 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1970), which had come before this Court for review on conflict certiorari from the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In Craig, the district court ruled the defendant's confession inadmissible because the preinterrogation warnings did not inform the defendant that he had the right to have an attorney present during the interrogation. Craig v. State, 216 So. 2d 19, 20 (Fla.

4th DCA 1968). The district court also concluded that the defendant's statements during the interrogation were sufficient to invoke his right to an attorney. Id. The facts also indicate that the defendant's family had secured for him the services of an attorney. Craig, 237 So. 2d at 739. Regardless, this Court found that the district court's suppression of the confession was in error. In reversing Haliburton's conviction, however, this Court distinguished Craig:

The state argues that we should find appellant's waiver valid under our decision in State v. Craig, (citation omitted from the original). We are unpersuaded, however, as the issues before us in Craig were the adequacy of the preinterrogation warnings to inform the defendant of his right to consult with an attorney and have the attorney with him during interrogation and the manner in which the defendant expressed his desire to waive counsel.

Haliburton I 476 So. 2d at 194 (emphasis added).

The issue in the instant case is akin to the issue in Craig, i.e., the manner in which a defendant invokes his right to remain silent. As recognized by this Court in the instant case, as well as in Craig, the issue of voluntariness is separate from the issue regarding the propriety of Miranda warnings and the sufficiency of any subsequent invocation or waiver of a right to remain silent. Owen, 560 So. 2d at 210.

As previously noted, Haliburton II and Traylor are premised on constitutional law, whereas Owen is premised on a federal rule of procedure. To further illustrate this point one need only to review the cases relied upon by this Court in ruling Owen's confession inadmissible. This Court relied primarily upon

Long v. State, 517 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 486 U.S. 1017 (1988), and cases cited therein. In those referenced cases,<sup>3</sup> this Court determined, relying solely on federal authority, that equivocal responses required limited questioning designed to clarify the statements. Thus, in analyzing the admissibility of Owen's confession, this Court relied upon previous interpretations of a federal rule, namely Edwards. Because of its previous interpretation of Edwards, this Court felt compelled to apply Long to find Owen's confession inadmissible even though it believed Owen's confession was voluntary.

In Long, this Court determined that Edwards mandated the cessation of all questioning after an equivocal statement is made by a defendant. Any further communication must be limited to clarifying the meaning of the equivocal response:

The record is clear, however, that the investigating officer did not attempt to clarify the equivocal request for counsel, but continued to interrogate Long to obtain the eventual confession. We are bound by the United States Supreme Court decisions in Miranda, Edwards, and Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291 (1990), which we conclude mandate suppression of Long's confession. Without this equivocal request for counsel we would find this confession voluntary and admissible. Miranda and Edwards, however, establish a bright line test that controls this case and requires suppression of the confession.

---

<sup>3</sup> Cannady v. State, 427 So. 2d 723, 728 (Fla. 1983); Valle v. State, 474 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1985), vacated on other grounds, 476 U.S. 1102, 106 S.Ct. 1943, 90 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1986); Waterhouse v. State, 429 So. 2d 301, 305 (Fla. 1983).



Long, 517 So. 2d at 667 (emphasis added). See also Martin v. Wainwright, 770 F. 2d 918, 923 (11th Cir. 1985)(voluntary confession held inadmissible based on defendant's equivocal response, "can't we wait until tomorrow"). Now that Davis has settled the conflict involving the interpretation of Edwards, this Court should adopt the Davis analysis.

The district court expressed concern about application of Davis because of the emphasis in Traylor on the primacy doctrine. Traylor, however, did not establish the concept of primacy of the state constitution; it merely reaffirmed it. In fact in Haliburton II, the United States Supreme Court remanded for reconsideration in light of Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 89 L. Ed. 2d 410 (1984). This Court decided to affirm its holding based on the state's constitution. However, this Court's refusal to apply federal law on the question of voluntariness in Haliburton II was consistent with precedent long before Traylor and long before Owen. See, e.g., Simon v. State, 5 Fla. 285, 296 (1853); Nickles v. State, 90 Fla. 659, 667, 106 So. 479, 483 (1925). Whether new or old, it does not matter, the primacy doctrine is inapplicable to the instant case. The issue in Haliburton I and II and Traylor are distinguishable from Owen.<sup>4</sup> Because Haliburton II and Traylor are premised on constitutional law, as opposed to a federal rule of procedure,

---

<sup>4</sup> The issue of voluntariness as expressed by this Court in Haliburton I and II are not the concern in the instant case. Compare, Walls v. State, 580 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1991)(subterfuge and deception by government agents violated Haliburton and Art. I, Section 9 of Florida Constitution).

they do not apply to the admissibility of the confession in the instant case.

B. United States v. Davis should apply in Florida and in the instant case.

As noted above, this Court felt compelled in Long to hold that equivocal responses required that any further questioning be limited to a clarification of the response. See also Thompson v. State, 548 So. 2d 193, 203 (Fla. 1989) (when a defendant makes an equivocal request Miranda and Edwards require that police continue questioning for the sole purpose of clarifying the request and nothing more). On June 24, 1994, during the pendency of Owen's retrial, the United States Supreme Court rendered its decision in Davis. The Court determined that an equivocal request in reference to Miranda warnings does not render a confession inadmissible:

[W]e decline to adopt a rule requiring officers to ask clarifying questions. If the suspect's statement is not an unambiguous or unequivocal request for counsel, the officers have no obligation to stop questioning him.

To recapitulate: We held in Miranda that a suspect is entitled to the assistance of counsel during custodial interrogation even though the Constitution does not provide for such assistance. We held in Edwards that if a suspect invokes the right to counsel at anytime, the police must immediately cease questioning him until an attorney is present. But we are unwilling to create a third layer of prophylaxis to prevent police questioning when a suspect might want a lawyer. Unless the suspect actually requests an attorney, questioning may continue.

Davis, 129 L. Ed. 2d at 373. The Court noted that lower courts have developed conflicting standards for determining consequences

of equivocal requests. Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S. 91, 95 n.3, 83 L. Ed. 2d 488, 105 S.Ct. 490 (1984). In light of Davis, those conflicts no longer exist. Davis, 129 L. Ed. 2d at 369.

A review and comparison of Florida and federal law generated in the area of confession law demonstrates that the policy considerations articulated in the caselaw are identical. This Court has recognized the tension and the competing interests between the value of confessions in fighting crime and the concern that such confessions will be obtained through coercion. Traylor, 596 So. 2d at 964. Those identical concerns exist in the federal arena as well. Moran, 475 U.S. at 426.

To protect against coercion, the United States Supreme Court crafted the following requirements:

Prior to any questioning, the person must be warned that he has a right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has a right to an attorney, either retained or appointed. The defendant may waive effectuation of these rights, provided the waiver is made voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently. If, however, he indicates in any manner and at any stage of the process that he wishes to consult with an attorney before speaking there can be no questioning. Likewise, if the individual is alone and indicates in any manner that he does not wish to be interrogated, the police may not question him.

Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444-445. The United States Supreme Court decision in Edwards was designed to give force to the Miranda warnings. Minnick v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. 146, 112 L. Ed. 2d 489, 111 S.Ct. 486 (1990). Once an accused has invoked his right to counsel, questioning must cease until counsel has been made available. Reinterrogation is forbidden unless it is initiated

by the accused. Edwards, 451 U.S. at 484. The rule of Edwards has been described by the Court as follows:

The rule ensures that any statement made in a subsequent interrogation is not the result of coercive pressures. Edwards conserves judicial resources which would otherwise be expended in making difficult determinations of voluntariness, and implements the protections of Miranda in practical and straightforward terms.

The merit of the Edwards decision lies in the clarity of its command and the certainty in its application. We have confirmed that the Edwards rule provides 'clear and unequivocal' guidelines to the law enforcement profession.

Minnick, 498 U.S. at 151.

This Court has chosen to adopt the identical rules without any modification:

Based on the foregoing analysis of our Florida law and the experience under Miranda and its progeny, we hold that to ensure the voluntariness of confessions, the Self-Incrimination Clause of Article I, Section 9, Florida Constitution, requires that prior to custodial interrogation in Florida suspects must be told that they have a right to remain silent, that anything they say will be used against them in court, that they have a right to a lawyer's help, and that if they cannot pay for a lawyer one will be appointed to help them.

Under Section 9, if the suspect indicates in any manner that he or she does not want to be interrogated, interrogation must not begin or, if it has already begun, must immediately stop. If the suspect indicates in any manner that he or she wants the help of a lawyer, interrogation must not begin until a lawyer has been appointed and is present or, if it has already begun, must immediately stop until a lawyer is present. Once a suspect has requested the help of a lawyer, no state agent can reinitiate interrogation on any offense throughout the period of custody

unless the lawyer is present, although the suspect is free to volunteer a statement to police on his or her own initiative at any time on any subject in the absence of counsel.

Traylor, 596 So. 2d at 966. Consistent with the United States Supreme Court's desire for clarity, this Court has described the purpose of the above stated safeguards as necessary to maintain a bright-line standard for police interrogation. Id., at 966.

As noted above, this Court determined that Miranda and Edwards require questioning of a suspect to stop once an equivocal response is made. Long. The United States Supreme Court has now made it clear, however, that such an expansion of Edwards is not required:

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