FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 23 1995

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 85,781

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

VS.

DUANE OWEN,

Appellee.

## **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Tierney & Haughwout
324 Datura Street
Suite 250
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Fla. Bar No. 375675

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court's original opinion in <u>Owen v. State</u> is the law of the case and should bar reconsideration of the mandate issued in 1990. There has been no change in the law which is binding on this Court or which is applicable to the facts of this case. The United States Supreme Court opinion in <u>Davis v. United States</u> applies to the invocation of the right to counsel. The instant case concerns the right to terminate questioning. Further, it is not applicable to the facts of this case since OWEN unequivocally invoked his right to terminate questioning.

Finally, <u>Davis</u> does not alter the law in Florida. The Florida Constitution, Art. 1, §9, embodies the right to terminate questioning if the suspect indicates in any manner that he or she does not want to be interrogated. <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992). In this case, as this Court previously held, OWEN indicated he did not want to answer questions. Law enforcement's failure to respect this invocation renders the confession inadmissible.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT RECONSIDER ITS PRIOR DECISION IN <u>OWEN V. STATE</u>

The State is seeking in this appeal to have this Court reconsider its prior decision reversing and remanding this case for a new trial. The procedural posture of this case is unique. This Court issued its mandate in May, 1990. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed by the State seeking review of this Court's opinion in the United States Supreme Court. The Petition was denied. State v. Owen, 498 U.S. 855, 111 S.Ct. 152, 112 L.Ed.2d 118 (1990). Thereafter, while this case was pending in the trial court, the Supreme Court issued its opinion in Davis v. United States, \_\_\_\_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994), holding that an ambiguous or equivocal request for counsel does not require law enforcement to cease questioning; rather, after a knowing and voluntary waiver of Miranda rights, law enforcement may continue questioning until a suspect clearly requests an attorney. Davis at 2355-2356.

The State then moved the trial court to permit use of the confession that this Court held was inadmissible because of OWEN'S invocation of his right to remain silent. The trial court denied this motion and the State filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The Fourth District denied the Petition but certified the question to this Court as to the applicability of <u>Davis</u> in Florida and to the facts of this case.

# A. The Fourth District Court of Appeal erred by accepting jurisdiction as the Petition did not establish jurisdiction for issuance of a Writ of Certiorari.

Common law certiorari to review a non-final order in a criminal case is an extraordinary remedy available only under very limited circumstances. As pointed out in the 1977 Committee Notes to Rule 9.130 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure,

[i]t is extremely rare that erroneous interlocutory rulings can be corrected by resorting to common law certiorari. It is anticipated that since the most urgent interlocutory orders are appealable under this rule, there will be very few cases where common law certiorari will provide relief.

Certiorari is an exceptional remedy available only to review those non-final orders that (1) constitute a substantial departure from the essential requirements of law, (2) cause a material injury to a party throughout subsequent proceedings, and (3) cause an injury for which there will be no adequate remedy after final judgment. State v. Pettis, 520 So.2d 250 (Fla. 1988); Dairyland Ins. Co. v. McKenzie, 251 So.2d 887 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971); Gulf Cities Gas Corp. v. Cihak, 201 So.2d 250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967). In Combs v. State, 436 So.2d 93, 96 (Fla. 1983), the Court limited application of certiorari to those cases where "there has been a violation of a clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice." As the following analysis demonstrates, the restrictive standard governing certiorari review does not apply to this case.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal held that this Court could change the law of the case in exceptional circumstances and that if <u>Davis</u> applies to the facts of this case and if <u>Davis</u>

controls in Florida in light of <u>Traylor</u>, exceptional circumstances exist to reconsider the law of the case. Given the uncertainties inherent in the Fourth District's analysis, certiorari jurisdiction did not lie to review the trial court's order denying the "Motion to Revisit the Florida Supreme Court's Ruling Reversing the Trial Court's Original Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress." The order under review was not a departure from the essential requirements of law. A finding that the order is a departure from the essential requirements of law is a jurisdictional prerequisite to the consideration of whether the excluded evidence would substantially impair the ability of the State to prosecute its case. <u>State v. Pettis</u>, 520 So.2d 250, 253 (Fla. 1988).

The practical effect of permitting certiorari review in the circumstances presented in the instant case is that in any prolonged litigation, an appellate court's rulings would be subject to constant change and review depending on rulings from higher courts that have questionable application. As demonstrated herein, the application of <u>Davis</u> to the instant facts is questionable and requires a relitigation of the facts in order to determine the application. Therefore, following the mandate originally issued in this case was not a violation of the clearly established principle of law. As such, the Fourth District Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction to even issue the writ requested by the State.

B. The "law of the case" doctrine does not provide a basis to reconsider this Court's opinion in Owen V. State, 560 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1990).

Perhaps the leading case discussing "law of the case" is Brunner Enterprises, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 452 So.2d 550 (Fla. 1984). However, Brunner, does not mandate a change in the law of the case given the specific facts and the issues in this case.

Brunner, this Court addressed the appropriate procedure for modification of the law of the case. concerned an effort by the Department of Revenue to assess a tax deficiency for failing to include income earned by a corporation in another state. On direct appeal, the Supreme Court held that the income earned by an out of state sale by a foreign corporation doing business in Florida was taxable under a specified formula of apportionment. Dept. of Revenue v. Brunner Enterprises, Inc., 390 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1980). Subsequent to this decision, the United States Supreme Court reached a decision directly contrary to the In Asarco Inv. v. Idaho State Tax holding in that case. Commission, 458 U.S. 307, 102 S.Ct. 3103, 73 L.Ed. 2d 787 (1982), the United States Supreme Court found that the inclusion of such income and the formula method of apportionment violated the federal due process clause. The trial court ruled that it would not alter the initial decision of the Florida Supreme Court, despite Asarco, and the First District Court of Appeal certified the question to the Supreme Court.

Although this Court granted review, it held that, consistent with prior cases, "no party is entitled as a matter of right to have the law of the case reconsidered, and a change in the law of the case should only be made in those situations where strict adherence to the rules would result in 'manifest injustice'." Brunner, 452 So.2d at 552-553 (citations omitted). See, also, Henry v. State, 649 So.2d 1361 (1994).

The court in <u>Brunner</u> further held that if the Supreme Court opinion in <u>Asarco</u> had been decided prior to <u>Dept. of Revenue V. Brunner</u>, they would have been <u>bound</u> to follow the Supreme Court's pronouncement and would have decided the case differently. Therefore, the court held that the intervening decision did provide one of the exceptional situations to support a modification of the law of the case.

The instant case presents a very different situation. The State argues that <u>Davis v. United States</u>, \_\_\_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994) provides a basis upon which to find exceptional circumstances. However, even if <u>Davis</u> had been decided prior to the initial appeal, it does not mandate a different result. Specifically, contrary to the situation in <u>Brunner</u>, <u>Davis</u> does not alter the law in Florida nor is it clearly applicable to the facts of this case.

In <u>Henry</u> the court held that the law of the case doctrine precluded reconsideration of the Motion to Suppress unless a subsequent hearing or trial developed material changes in the evidence or where exceptional circumstances existed whereby reliance upon the previous decision would result in manifest injustice.

In <u>Davis</u>, the court addressed "how law enforcement officers should respond when a suspect makes a reference to counsel that is insufficiently clear to invoke the <u>Edwards</u><sup>2</sup> prohibition of further questioning." <u>Davis</u> at 2353. The issue in this case concerns the propriety of continued questioning after the Defendant said "I'd rather not talk about it." The leading case on this issue, as discussed further in this brief, is <u>Michigan v. Mosley</u>, 423 U.S. 96, 96 S.Ct. 321, 46 L.Ed.2d 313 (1975) which the Supreme Court neither cited nor discussed in Davis.

The facts of <u>Davis</u> are also quite different than the facts of the instant case. In <u>Davis</u>, the defendant was being questioned concerning a homicide. At some point during the interview, the defendant said "Maybe I should talk to a lawyer." The testimony at the suppression hearing was that law enforcement immediately:

[m]ade it very clear that we're not here to violate his rights, that if he wants a lawyer, then we will stop any kind of questioning with him, that we weren't going to pursue the matter unless we have it clarified is he asking for a lawyer or is he just making a comment about a lawyer and he said, [']No, I'm not asking for a lawyer,' and then he continued on and said, 'No, I don't want a lawyer.'

Thereafter, a short break was taken, the defendant was reminded again of his right to remain silent and right to counsel and the interview continued. At a later point, the defendant said

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), wherein the court held that law enforcement officers must immediately cease questioning a suspect who has clearly asserted his right to have counsel present during custodial interrogation.

"I think I want a lawyer before I say anything else" and questioning was terminated. Davis at 2352.

The lower court denied the Motion to Suppress and it was affirmed on appeal. The Supreme Court granted certiorari to address the Petitioner's contention that all questioning should have ceased upon the mention of an attorney.

The Supreme Court rejected this contention: "we decline Petitioner's invitation to extend <u>Edwards</u> and require law enforcement officers to cease questioning immediately upon the making of an ambiguous or equivocal reference to an attorney."

<u>Davis</u> at 2354. Rather, the court held that after a knowing and voluntary waiver of <u>Miranda</u> rights, "law enforcement may continue questioning until and unless the suspect clearly requests an attorney." <u>Davis</u> at 2355.

Applying <u>Davis</u> to the instant case, it is clear that there are a number of distinctions. First, it did not concern the right to terminate questioning. Second, the Court in <u>Davis</u> recommended that law enforcement clarify whether an individual is, in fact, requesting counsel so as to avoid the question as to whether a statement is unequivocal. Finally, the <u>Davis</u> opinion does not alter or modify the law in Florida based on the Florida Constitution. Art. 1, §9, Florida Constitution.

Therefore, unlike the situation presented in <u>Brunner</u> <u>Enterprises</u>, <u>Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Davis</u> does not provide a basis for changing the law of the case since even if <u>Davis</u> had been decided prior to this Court's opinion in the prior

appeal in this case, there is no reason to believe the result would be different. In order to find that the opinion in <u>Davis</u> requires a change in the law of the case, this Court would first have to conclude that (1) <u>Davis</u> applies with equal force to the right to remain silent and to terminate questioning; (2) the statements "I'd rather not talk about it." and "I don't want to talk about it." are equivocal; (3) the Florida Constitution should be interpreted consistent with <u>Davis</u>.

The established principle of law in Florida, embodying both the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution is that if a suspect indicates, in any manner, that he does not want to be interrogated, interrogation must immediately stop. <u>Traylor V. State</u>, 596 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1992). <u>Davis</u> does not alter this principle.

# II. OWEN'S INVOCATION OF HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT WAS NOT EQUIVOCAL.

The State asserts that this Court concluded that OWEN'S response "I'd rather not talk about it" was equivocal and therefore precluded further questioning except to clarify the Defendant's wishes. Actually, this Court held that "the responses were at the least an equivocal indication of the Miranda right to terminate questioning..." Owen v. State, 560 So.2d at 211 (emphasis added). Therefore, contrary to the State's argument, this Court did not

conclude that the response was actually equivocal. Furthermore, OWEN later responded with "I don't want to talk about it." Despite this statement, "the police pressed him to talk." Owen 560 So.2d at 211.

Black's Law Dictionary defines equivocal as "having a double or several meanings or senses. Synonymous with ambiguous." Sixth Ed., Centennial Ed., 1991.

In <u>Long v. State</u>, 517 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1987) this Court discussed what equivocal meant:

When a person expresses both a desire for counsel and a desire to continue the interview without counsel, further inquiry is limited...

517 So.2d 667 (citations omitted). See also <u>Cannady v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1983) (wherein Court held that statement "I think I should call my lawyer." while also repeatedly confessing to the crime indicated both the desire for counsel and the desire to continue talking with the police. Police properly clarified the defendant's wishes and obtained additional written waiver.); <u>State v. Winniger</u>, 427 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) (Defendant's request to go home was an invocation of right to remain silent; if law enforcement was in doubt as to the defendant's intentions further inquiry should have been limited to clarifying the defendant's wishes).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> OWEN recognizes that in dicta, this Court stated in a separate appeal from a separate conviction that OWEN's statement was equivocal. See, <u>Owen v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 985, ftnt. 3 (Fla. 1992).

There is no part of "I'd rather not talk about it" that expresses the desire to continue to answer questions or has double or several meanings. It is a polite and appropriate means of conveying a desire to remain silent. It does not convey a desire to continue to answer questions or indecision in the exercise of the preference to remain silent. However, if as a result of the tone used, or mannerisms displayed, police had some question as to what was intended, clarification might have been appropriate. Law enforcement apparently realized that OWEN was invoking his right to remain silent since, rather than clarify, they felt compelled to convince him of the reasons he should confess.

Instead of inquiring as to what he meant, OWEN was challenged with "Why?" and then told he could make it easier on the victim's parents and a town full of frightened babysitters. (App. 1078-1079). Police flattered him, provided him with the irrefutable evidence, and cajoled him with his "responsibility to be a man". (App. 1079-1085). This is precisely the type of badgering and cajoling the Miranda Court was concerned with when it declared that the right to cut off questioning must be "scrupulously honored." 384 U.S. at 479.

Finally, OWEN said "I don't want to talk about it." This is about as clear as anyone could express a desire to remain silent. "I want to talk about it" would certainly be considered an unequivocal waiver of the right to remain silent; likewise, "I don't want to talk about it." is unequivocal. The fact that OWEN

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